
Mohawk Students’ Association 
ANNUAL MEETING | OCTOBER 4, 2023 

2023 ANNUAL MEETING OF THE MEMBERS 

  



ANNUAL MEETING AGENDA 

TI
M

E/
DU

RA
TI

O
N ITEM TOPIC LEAD 

IN
FO

RM
AT

IO
N

DI
SC

U
SS

IO
N

DE
CI

SI
O

N
 

5:00pm Part I – Welcome 

30 min 
Meet n’ Greet 

• MSA Members sign in and receive meal voucher 
• Meet MSA Board of Directors 

MSA 
Staff/Board 

X X 

30 min Opening Ceremony with Elder TBD X X 

6:00pm Part II – Open Session 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

5 min 

1.1 Opening Remarks & Call to Order X 
1.2 Land Acknowledgement X 
1.3 Attendance and Quorum Call X 
1.4 Declarations – Conflict(s) of Interest X 

6:05pm 2.0 ITEMS FOR APPROVAL 

10 min 
2.1 Agenda of Annual Meeting – October 4, 2023 X X 

2.2 Minutes of Previous Annual Meeting – November 7, 2022   X X 
6:15pm 3.0 OLD BUSINESS 
10 min 3.1 Business Arising from the Minutes 

6:25pm 4.0 NEW BUSINESS 

65 min 

4.1 
(25 min) 

MSA – Who, What, Where, Why, How 
• Overview of Association 
• 2021-2025 Strategic Plan 

E-J. Phillips/ 
M. Iturriaga 

X X 

4.2 
(10 min) 

MSA Bylaws 
• Overview of Bylaw Changes 
• Motion to approve 

E-J. Phillips X X X 

4.3 
(10 min) 

2022-2023 MSA Audited Financial Statement & Report 
• Overview of report 
• Overview of financials 
• Motion to approve the 2022-2023 Audited Financial Statements 

M. Falletta/ 
MacGillivray 

Chartered 
Accountants 

X X X 

4.4 
(5 min) 

Appointment of Auditors 
• MacGillivray Chartered Accountants 
• Motion to appoint for the 2023-2024 MSA Audit 

M. Falletta X X X 

4.5 
(15 min) 

MSA Advocacy Impact E-J. Phillips/ 
Various BOD 

X X 

7:30pm 5.0 CONCLUSION 

2 min 
5.1 Concluding Statements and Appreciation X 
5.2 Adjournment X 

7:32pm Part III – Town Hall 
1.0 OPEN FORUM SESSION FOR STUDENTS 

30 min 1.2 Generative Discussion 
• Questions and concerns submitted by students 

Various   X X 

7:57pm 2.0 CONCLUSION 

15 min 
2.1 Concluding Statements and Closing Ceremony TBD X 
2.2 Adjournment + SWAG X 



Item 2.2 – Previous Minutes of the Annual General Meeting – November 7, 2022 





























Item 4.2 – Mohawk Students’ Association Bylaws 

Motion to consider: That the MSA Ordinary Membership approve the proposed changes to the Bylaws, 
effective October 4, 2023, with the exception that the proposed changes to Section 4.03 – 
Qualifications, sub-section (vi) related to grade point average, take effect on May 1, 2024. The sections 
for approval include: 

Section 4.02 – Qualifications 
Section 4.06 – Remuneration 
Section 4.07 – Removal of Directors 
Section 5.05 – Votes to Govern 
Section 5.06 – Conflict of Interest 
Section 6.04 – Executive Director 
Section 14.01 - Referenda 

As of May 1, 2022, the MSA Board of Directors implemented a new governance structure, in which 
prompted necessary changes to a number of MSA policies and bylaws to be better aligned with the 
newly created structure. Governance Consultant Catherine Raso, of CMR Consulting, along with other 
Legal Counsel, assisted the MSA in redefining the governance structure and its necessary policies and 
bylaws. 

The purpose of bylaws is to maintain consistency in the running of the business, or in the MSA’s case, 
our non-profit organization. These bylaws communicate organizational rules so internal disputes or 
conflicts can be avoided. In the simplest of terms, bylaws provide education, rules, and clarity for 
internal and external bodies regarding all procedures, documentation, accountabilities, and 
responsibilities. 

For your review, a copy of the bylaws, as revised with rationale in chart form, is attached. In addition, a 
copy of the formatted bylaws is available for review here.   

The proposed changes to the Bylaws include: 

SECTION 4.03 – Qualifications 

Currently reads: 

a) Unless otherwise specifically provided for 
in this By-Law no person shall be 
qualified to be a director unless at the 
time of their election and throughout 
their term, shall be: 

iii. not employed as a full-time employee 
of the Association, unless they agree to 
resign their paid position as an employee 
of the Association if elected 

Changed to read: 

b) Unless otherwise specifically provided for 
in this By-Law no person shall be 
qualified to be a director unless at the 
time of their election and throughout 
their term, shall be: 

iii. not employed as a full-time or part-
time employee of the Association, unless 
they agree to resign their paid position as 
an employee of the Association prior to 
taking office 



vi. have an overall passing grad point 
average of at least sixty percent (60%) … 

vi. have an overall passing grad point 
average of at least seventy percent (70%) 
… 

Intent: to revert back to the bylaw stipulating that Board members cannot be full-time or student 
staff (pre-2022) and to raise the GPA requirement to 70% as this is a passing grade in certain 
programs and Board members should be held to a higher level than other students.  The GPA 
requirement would not take effect until May 1, 2024. 

SECTION 4.06 – Remuneration 

Currently reads: 

(a) The directors and officer shall be entitled 
to be paid an honorarium … 

Changed to read: 

(a) The directors and officers shall be 
entitled to be paid a Directors’ Fee … 

Intent: to update terminology and to allow for flexibility in the payment schedule 

SECTION 4.07 – Removal of Directors 

Currently reads: 

(a) The Board may, by resolution passed by 
at least two thirds of the votes cast at a 
Board meeting, remove any director 
before the expiration of their term of 
office, for violations of any of the Board's 
policies on code of conduct. 

Changed to read: 

The Board may, by resolution passed by at least 
two thirds of the votes cast at a Board meeting, 
remove any director before the expiration of 
their term of office, for violations of any of the 
Board's policies on code of conduct. Should the 
President be removed as a director, they shall 
no longer be eligible to maintain the position of 
President. 

Intent: to clarify that should the President be removed as a director; they can no longer be a full-time 
staff member in the role of President 

SECTION 5.05 – Votes to Govern 

Currently reads: 

The major decisions shall include: 

(a) determination of the capital requirements of 
the Association; 

(b) acquisition of any property or interest 
therein; 

Changed to read: 

The major decisions shall include: 

(a) determination of the capital requirements of 
the Association; 

(b) acquisition of any property or interest 
therein; 



(c) sale, lease, exchange or mortgaging of any 
property or interest therein; 

(d) entering into leases or terminating or 
modifying any lease; 

(e) the adjustment, settlement, or compromise 
of any claim, obligation, debt, demand, suite 
or judgment against the Association; 

(f) approval of the annual budget for the 
Association;   

(g) the suspension of the privileges of a member; 

(c) sale, lease, exchange or mortgaging of any 
property or interest therein; 

(d) entering into leases or terminating or 
modifying any lease; 

(e) the adjustment, settlement, or compromise 
of any claim, obligation, debt, demand, suite 
or judgment against the Association; 

(f) approval of the annual budget for the 
Association;   

(g) the suspension of the privileges of a member;   

(h) removal of a director and/or Executive 
Director 

Intent: to ensure that a vote to remove a Board member or Executive Director requires a 2/3rd 

majority, rather than a simple majority of 50% + 1 

SECTION 5.06 – Conflict of Interest 

Currently reads: 

The Board shall establish and maintain a policy 
relating to real or perceived conflicts of interest. 
The Board shall be responsible for reviewing the 
conflict of interest policy of the Association on a 
periodic basis to ensure the policy is relevant and 
appropriate. 

Changed to read: 

The Board shall establish and maintain a policy 
relating to real or perceived conflicts of interest. 
The Board shall be responsible for reviewing the 
Governance policy of the Association on a 
periodic basis to ensure the policy is relevant and 
appropriate. 

Intent: to identify that there is no longer a conflict of interest policy as everything is now captured in 
the Governance Policy. 

SECTION 6.04 – Executive Director 

Currently reads: 

If the Association employs an Executive Director 
they shall be responsible to the Board for the 
overall administration, service delivery and 
staffing of the Association. They shall attend all 
meetings of the Board and committees, unless 

Changed to read: 

If the Association employs an Executive Director 
they shall be responsible to the Board for the 
overall administration, service delivery and 
staffing of the Association. They shall attend all 
meetings of the Board and committees, unless 



excused, serving in an advisory capacity without 
vote. Specifically, they shall be responsible for 
bringing in business to and marketing the 
Association; establishing the overall direction of 
the Association; determining the Association's 
strategies; establishing the initial conditions of all 
initiatives; and shall also be responsible for the 
financial management of the corporation. They 
shall keep the Board informed of the work of the 
Association by reports, and discuss with the 
Board the practices and methods through which 
it shall be conducted. They shall make such other 
reports as the Board require and they shall be an 
authorized signing officer of the Association. The 
job description of the Executive Director shall be 
established by the Board from time to time. 

excused, serving in an advisory capacity without 
vote. Specifically, they shall be responsible for 
bringing in business to and marketing the 
Association; establishing the overall direction of 
the Association; determining the Association's 
strategies; establishing the initial conditions of all 
initiatives; and shall also be responsible for the 
financial management of the corporation. They 
shall keep the Board informed of the work of the 
Association by reports, and discuss with the 
Board the practices and methods through which 
it shall be conducted. They shall make such other 
reports as the Board require and they shall be an 
authorized signing officer of the Association. The 
job description of the Executive Director shall be 
established by the Board from time to time. 

The Board may, by resolution passed by at least 
two thirds of the votes cast at a Board meeting, 
remove the Executive Director for violations of 
any of the Board’s or MSA Policies, only after a 
formal evaluation or investigation is completed. 

Intent: to outline a process to be followed for the removal of the Executive Director. 

SECTION 14.01 – Referenda 

Currently reads: 

Two (2) weeks’ notice must be given to the 
student body before the referendum date. The 
Association referendum shall be open for a 
duration of at least three full college days. Only 
Ordinary Members are eligible to cast a ballot. 

Changed to read: 

Two (2) weeks’ notice must be given to the 
student body before the referendum date. The 
Association referendum shall be open for a 
duration of at least three full college days. Only 
Eligible Members are eligible to cast a ballot. 

Intent: to allow that when a referendum affects students who are not Ordinary members, a 
determination will be made to stipulate who is eligible to vote in any particular referendum. 



Item 4.3 – 2022-2023 Mohawk Students’ Association Audited Financial Statements 

Motion to Consider: That the MSA Ordinary Membership approve the 2022-2023 MSA Audited Financial 
Statements by MacGillivray Chartered Accountants, as circulated.        

2022-2023 Financial Summary 

MacGillivray Chartered Accountants and Business Advisors have audited the financial statements for 
the year ended April 30, 2023. The audited financial statements include the statement of financial 
position, statement of operations, statement of changes in fund balances, and statement of cash flows. 
The Independent Auditors Report concluded that the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Organization as at April 30, 2023, and results of its operations and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-
profit organizations (“ASNPO”). 

During the summer (May–August), the COVID pandemic continued to have a significant impact on the 
number of in-person activities and services offered to students. Student services at that time were 
offered both virtually and in person such as Presto card support, career closet, legal counseling, food 
bank, grad photos, Health & Dental plan services, and more. At the onset of the Fall semester, COVID 
pandemic-related restrictions were lifted, and in-person operations were restored including festive 
events, clubs, and food services. The Cellar later opened in a limited capacity in January 2023. All 
departments saw full-time and part-time hiring return to pre-pandemic levels. Strategic Initiatives, 
Priorities & Board approved Budget Directives were in full force with movement being seen in each 
area. During the year, the MSA participated in two, free pilot products – Conversations (mental health 
support) and Virtual Health Care. The Board approved an extension of these services for September 1, 
2023, to August 31, 2024 (Health & Dental plan year), at the April 2023 Board meeting. Although the 
Health & Dental fees have been increased for the following year from $191.58 to $230.00, the increase 
is not enough to cover the full cost of $284.31. The MSA is going to subsidize an estimated $720,000 to 
continue offering these products to students, and they will be funded in combination from the MSA’s 
Health & Dental reserve ($816,458 as of April 30, 2023), as well as from MSA’s General Reserves 
($7,509,000 as of April 30, 2023), outlined in note 17. Subsequent Event. 

The 2022-23 audit has confirmed a consolidated net income of $237,902 which is comprised of a net 
operating income of $173,895 and a capital income of $64,007. Of the $173,895, unrestricted operating 
income was $207,265 and a $33,370 loss resulting from the Health & 



Dental Plan which is the difference between the fees collected ($2,710,938) and premiums paid 
($2,744,308). 

Below is a summary of the 2022-23 Capital Expenditures: 

March 2023 Booster Juice – Ice Machine $5,915 
April 2023 Director, Student Experience Team - Office Space (G110) $16,530 

Total student fees collected in 2022-23 were $3,345,040 compared to $2,865,489 collected in the 
previous fiscal. Below is a summary of the various student fees collected and their annual fee. 

Fee Description 2022-23 Annual Fee 
General Fee 3,123,372 $215.20 
TriOS Fee $109,347 $62.55 
Continuing Education Fee $67,800 $0.15/Student 

Contact Hour 
Apprenticeship Fee $30,386 $10.81 
Presto Revenue $14,135 .5% of the 

2.25% UCTP* 
Admin Fee 

(*note: UCTP University College Transit Pass) 

The MSA’s financial position continues to be strong with unrestricted cash holdings of 
$7,509,000 which will allow the Association to be flexible, support new endeavors and make 
enhancements to services and spaces adapting to the changing needs of students. 

The MSA continues to advance the Strategic Initiatives, Priorities and the 2023-24 Board approved 
Budget Directives by creating a community in which students can lean on for positive experiences, 
relevant supports, a listening ear and a strong voice. The MSA has been dedicated to helping all 
Mohawk Students achieve personal success in their college experience and beyond by unwavering in 
our efforts to deliver service excellence to all students. 

Full audited statement reports are located below for review.   



Item 4.4 – Appointment of 2023-2024 Auditors 

Motion to consider: That the MSA Ordinary members approve the reappointment of MacGillivray 
Chartered Accountants to perform the 2023-2024 MSA Financial Audit. 




